RECEIVED

01-11-2018

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

SUPREME COURT

Appeal No. 2016AP001409-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JOSEPH T. LANGLOIS,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

ON REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II, AFFIRMING JUDGMENTS AND ORDERS ENTERED IN THE WASHINGTON COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE JAMES K. MUEHLBAUER, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT-PETITIONER

ANDREW J. JARMUZ The Law Office of Andrew J. Jarmuz, LLC State Bar No. 1089369

P.O. Box 24537 Edina, MN 55424 (262) 446-3380 andrew@jarmuzlaw.com

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- Was trial counsel ineffective when he failed to object to the jury instructions for Accident and Self Defense on the charge of Homicide by Negligent Handling of a Dangerous Weapon? Answer by the Circuit Court and Court of Appeals: No.
- 2. Is a new trial warranted in the interest of justice because the erroneous jury instructions, as a whole, prevented the real controversy from being tried?

Answer by the Circuit Court and Court of Appeals: No.

 Did the erroneous jury instructions on Accident and Self Defense violate Mr. Langlois's due process rights?

Answer by the Circuit Court and Court of Appeals: No.

4. Was there insufficient evidence to convict Mr. Langlois of Homicide by Negligent Handling of a Dangerous Weapon? Answer by the Circuit Court and Court of Appeals: No.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

By granting review, this court has deemed this case appropriate for both oral argument and publication.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February 6, 2014, Mr. Langlois was charged with First Degree Reckless Homicide, Use of a Dangerous Weapon involving the death of his brother, Jacob Langlois. (1:1-5). Later, an Information was filed, and a trial was held from July 14, 2015 to July 17, 2015. (20, 156-159).

Testimony and exhibits were presented to the jury including testimony from the two eyewitnesses: Karen Langlois, who is the mother of Joseph and Jacob Langlois, and Defendant Joseph Langlois.

Karen Langlois testified that on February 4, 2014 she had returned to her home, and her two sons were there. (156: 268; App. 169). Defendant Joseph Langlois told her that his brother, Jacob Langlois, who was packing to leave for the National Guard, had packed numerous items that didn't belong to him. Id. These items included video games and fishing knives that belonged to other members of the family. *Id.* Karen Langlois explained that she went to her son Jacob's room, where she found him, and he was very aggravated and agitated. Id. at 270; App. 171. She explained to Jacob that she heard that he was taking items that didn't belong to him, and then Joseph removed the Xbox system from Jacob's room and Jacob gave her a filet knife that he, Jacob, had taken. Id. at 270-271; App. 171-172. She indicated she then set the filet knife down on a table in the room in front of a Milwaukee toolbox. Id. at 273; App. 174.

Karen Langlois explained that her son, Joseph Langlois, returned to the room after removing the Xbox and told Jacob that he wanted to see what else Jacob had that belonged to Joseph, and that is when Jacob jumped Defendant Joseph Langlois from behind and grabbed him around the neck. *Id.* Karen Langlois explained that her two sons went down to the floor and Jacob was choking Defendant Joseph Langlois for fifteen to twenty seconds to the point that Joseph was struggling to breathe. *Id.* at 274, 276; App. 175, 177. Jacob continued to have Joseph in a choke hold, and Joseph was not responding, and then Jacob loosened his hold and thereafter released his hold around Defendant Joseph Langlois's neck after Joseph did not respond to his mother. *Id.* at 274; App. 175.

Joseph was not able to get out of Jacob's chokehold. *Id.* at 274-275; App. 175-176. She stated that after Jacob released the hold around Joseph's neck, Joseph "sort of opened his eyes, sat up, took a deep breath and walked out of the room." *Id.* at 275; App. 176. Karen Langlois stated she remained in the room with Jacob and they argued about the Xbox and Jacob's behavior. *Id.* She explained that Jacob was pretty much in her face while she argued with him about the Xbox and his behavior. *Id.* at 278; App. 179. Defendant Joseph Langlois tried to come back into the room at that time, but Jacob Langlois pushed Joseph and then used the door to push Joseph back out of the room. *Id.* at 277; App. 178.

Karen Langlois explained that Defendant Joseph Langlois again came into the room while she was arguing with Jacob. *Id.* at 278; App. 179. She explained that Jacob shoved and then kicked Defendant Joseph Langlois in the stomach. *Id.* Karen Langlois testified that after Jacob shoved and kicked Joseph, Joseph came up from being bent over by the kick and now had the filet knife from the table, which he had not had when he entered the room. *Id.* at 278, 279; App. 179, 180. She explained that Joseph held "the knife up defensively, up against his right shoulder," with the sharp end pointed out. *Id.* at 279-280; App. 180-181.

Karen Langlois testified that her sons were yelling at each other, and Jacob Langlois kicked Defendant Joseph Langlois again, with a roundhouse kick, and Joseph, who had the knife in his hand, fell back, and then fell forward as Jacob Langlois came forward, and "that's when the accident happened." *Id.* at 282; App. 183. She saw blood on Defendant Joseph Langlois's leg and asked him if he was okay, but then Jacob grabbed his chest and said, "No, mom, its me," and he moved his hand and she saw the wound. *Id.* at 287; App. 188. The knife had gone into Jacob's chest. Joseph Langlois testified that he had picked up the filet knife and held it in a defensive position, and he wanted to get Jacob to stop attacking him, and was afraid of Jacob putting him in another chokehold. (158: 123; App. 206).

Karen Langlois ran to find a phone to call 911 and did so, and Jacob followed her to the kitchen. Joseph Langlois put pressure on his brother's wound, and later started chest compressions after Jacob lost consciousness. (156: 290; App. 191). Jacob Langlois died as a result of the wound to his chest.

After the close of evidence, the State requested that in addition to the charge of First Degree Reckless Homicide, that the jury also be instructed on new charges of Second Degree Reckless Homicide, and Homicide by Negligent Handling of a Dangerous Weapon, and the request was granted by the court. (158: 244-245, 260). The jury instructions were discussed, and Defendant's trial counsel failed to object to omissions and erroneous instructions related to the charge of Homicide by Negligent Handling of a Dangerous Weapon. (159: 9, 78: 13-14; App. 211, 158-159).

Mr. Langlois was acquitted by the jury on the charges of First and Second Degree Reckless Homicide, but was convicted on the charge of Homicide by Negligent Handling of a Dangerous Weapon. (80, 81, 85). The court ordered a withheld sentence that included, among other conditions, five years of probation. (110, 119). Mr. Langlois's trial counsel made a motion to reconsider the motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict and for a new trial. (95: 1-8, 113: 1-8). The trial court denied the motions. (116).

Mr. Langlois moved for postconviction relief based upon ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to object to the erroneous jury instructions and failing to advocate for the proper jury instructions, in the interests of justice based on multiple errors in the jury instructions, violation of his due process rights due to erroneous instructions, and insufficient evidence to convict on the charge of Homicide by Negligent Handling of a Dangerous Weapon. (125, 129). The trial court refused to grant an evidentiary hearing on the motions, including on the issue of ineffective assistance of counsel, and denied all of the issues set forth in Mr. Langlois's motion for postconviction relief. (130: 1-11; App. 130-140).

Joseph Langlois appealed these issues to the Court of Appeals. The Court of Appeals affirmed the Judgments and Orders of the circuit court, with Judge Reilly dissenting. (App. 102-127). This Court granted Mr. Langlois's petition for review.

ARGUMENT

I. **TRIAL COUNSEL** WAS INEFFECTIVE FOR FAILING TO TO THE JURY OBJECT INSTRUCTIONS FOR ACCIDENT DEFENSE AND SELF ON THE CHARGE OF HOMICIDE BY OF NEGLIGENT HANDLING А DANGEROUS WEAPON.

Counsel is ineffective if he or she performed deficiently and this deficient performance prejudiced the defendant. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687-96 (1984). The moving party has the burden of proving both that

the counsel's performance was deficient and that the deficient performance was prejudicial. *State v. Roberson*, 2006 WI 80, ¶24, 292 Wis. 2d 280, 717 N.W.2d 111. Under the second prong, the Defendant is required to show "that there is a reasonable probability, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 694; *State v. Johnson*, 153 Wis. 2d 121, 128 (1990). A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome. *Id*.

When a postconviction motion alleges sufficient material facts that, if true, would entitle the defendant to relief, the circuit court must hold an evidentiary hearing. *State v. Bentley*, 201 Wis. 2d 303, 310, 548 N.W.2d 50 (1996); *State v. Allen*, 2004 WI 106, ¶ 9, 274 Wis. 2d 568, 682 N.W.2d 433 (citations omitted). Whether a postconviction motion meets this standard is a question of law which this Court reviews de novo. *Bentley*, 201 Wis. 2d 303 at 310. A circuit court may, in its discretion, deny a motion without a hearing if the motion does not raise a question of fact, presents only conclusory allegations, or if a review of the record conclusively demonstrates that the defendant is not entitled to relief. Allen, 274 Wis. 2d 568, ¶ 9, 12. This discretionary decision is subject to deferential review under the erroneous exercise of discretion standard. Id., ¶ 9. A proper exercise of discretion requires the court to examine relevant facts, apply proper legal standards and engage in rational decision process. Bentley, 201 Wis. 2d at 318. An ineffective assistance of counsel claim presents a mixed question of fact and law. State v. Thiel, 2003 WI 111, ¶ 21, 264 Wis. 2d 571, 665 N.W.2d 305. A circuit court's findings of fact are upheld unless clearly erroneous. Id. Whether counsel was ineffective is a question of law that is reviewed de novo. *Id*.

This case involves unobjected-to, erroneous instructions that corrupted the integrity of the fact-finding process. The breakdown began when the State, after resting its case at trial, realized that it had likely failed to prove the charged offense of first-degree reckless homicide, and requested that the court give instructions on two less serious charges: second-degree reckless homicide and homicide by negligent handling of a dangerous weapon. Due to the State's last minute addition of charges, and ineffective assistance of trial counsel, the jury was erroneously instructed that the law of self-defense and the law of accident for homicide by negligent handling of a dangerous weapon are different than the law of self-defense and the law of accident for first- and second-degree reckless homicide.

The trial court did not give one complete, proper instruction on self-defense, or one complete, proper instruction on accident, but instead it gave one set of instructions for first- and second-degree reckless homicide, and distinctly different instructions for homicide by negligent handling of a dangerous weapon. The instructions on the defenses for homicide by negligent handling of a dangerous weapon, as described below, were erroneous and corrupted the integrity of the fact-finding process.

The trial court properly told the jury to consider the first-degree reckless homicide charge, and only if it found Mr. Langlois not guilty of that charge was it to move on to consider second-degree reckless homicide. (159:18). The jury was also properly instructed that if it found Mr. Langlois not guilty of second-degree reckless homicide, only then was it to consider the charge of homicide by negligent handling of a dangerous weapon. *Id.* The jury found Mr. Langlois not guilty of both first- and second-degree reckless homicide, but convicted on the erroneously instructed charge of homicide by negligent handling of a dangerous weapon.

The Court of Appeals majority seems to claim that since the instructions on self-defense and accident were proper for the charges of which Mr. Langlois was acquitted, the erroneous self-defense and accident instructions on the charge of which Mr. Langlois was convicted were cured due to incorporation of the instructions on the already disposed of charges. As Judge Reilly aptly states in his dissent, it is illogical and disingenuous for the majority to believe that "a jury may utilize instructions for crimes not under consideration to fix erroneous instructions for the crime under consideration." (App. 122, ¶52). The dissent correctly states that the "majority's suggestion that the court's use of the phrase '[a]s I previously indicated'" incorporated the court's instructions on the previous charges is "an erroneous invitation that juries may search out laws applicable to other crimes so as to convict on a crime under deliberation." (App. 124, ¶56).

As a result of these instructional errors, the burden to disprove self-defense was erroneously removed from the State on the homicide by negligent handling of a dangerous weapon charge, and erroneously placed on Mr. Langlois. Also, the erroneous instructions describing the requisite mental state for the defense of accident impermissibly lessened the State's burden on the same charge.

Consequently, Mr. Langlois was acquitted on the firstand second-degree reckless homicide charges, but convicted on the erroneously instructed charge of homicide by negligent handling of a dangerous weapon. Mr. Langlois was prejudiced by his counsel's failure to object to the erroneous instructions, as described below, because there is a substantial probability of a different result given that the jury found him not guilty of first- and second-degree reckless homicide when it was correctly instructed on self-defense and accident for those charges.

As Judge Reilly stated in his dissent in this case, "[t]he justice system fails whenever a defendant fails to receive his constitutional right to effective assistance of counsel." (App. 123, ¶54). Mr. Langlois did not receive effective assistance from his counsel because his counsel failed to object to the clearly erroneous jury instructions on the homicide by negligent handling of a dangerous weapon charge.

This Court should use its discretionary authority to review and its discretionary authority of reversal to correct the miscarriage of justice created by trial counsel's deficient performance of failing to object to erroneous jury instructions. Trial counsel's performance was deficient because he failed to object to the jury instructions on Accident (WIS-JI-CRIMINAL 772) and Self-Defense (WIS-JI-CRIMINAL 801) relating to the charge of Homicide by Negligent Handling of a Dangerous Weapon despite the fact that the instructions were obviously inaccurate and the objections would have been strong because the accident instruction, as given to the jury, misstates the requisite mental state to the detriment of Mr. Langlois, and the self-defense instruction, as given to the jury, was incomplete and improperly shifts the burden of proof, by omission, from the State to Mr. Langlois. (78: 13-14; App. 158-159). When the court asked trial counsel if he had any comments or objections to the jury instructions, he replied, "I'm good with all of it, Judge." (159: 9, 1. 24; App. 211).

Trial counsel's failure to object to these jury instructions was improper and not based on a reasonable strategy. The accident and self-defense instructions given to the jury clearly deviated from the recommended instructions in material ways, and trial counsel failed to comment or object to them despite the fact that the instructions dealt with Mr. Langlois's defenses in the case: accident and self defense.

Due to trial counsel's failure to object to these instructions, the jury was misled about the defense of Accident. The jury was misled about the proper mental state when told: "The defendant contends that he *was not aware* of the risk of death or great bodily harm required for a crime, but rather that what happened was an accident.

If the defendant *was not aware of the risk of death or great bodily harm* required for a crime, the defendant is not guilty of that crime.

Before you may find the defendant guilty of Homicide by negligent operation of a dangerous weapon, the State must prove by evidence that satisfies you beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant *should have been aware of the risk of death or great bodily harm.*"

(78:13-14; App. 158-159; Emphasis added).

The accident instruction that was given to the jury misstated the mental state to the detriment of Mr. Langlois, and misled the jury. The mental state in Instruction 772 should have been explained to the jury as "criminal negligence," which would have referred them back to the definition of criminal negligence in the Instructions. This type of explanation regarding the proper mental state would have been consistent with the instruction for First Degree Reckless Homicide. (78:6; App. 151). The instruction with the proper mental state would have read: The defendant contends that he *did not act with criminal negligence*, but rather that what happened was an accident.

If the defendant *did not act with the criminal negligence* required for a crime, the defendant is not guilty of that crime.

Before you may find the defendant guilty of Homicide by negligent *handling* of a dangerous weapon, the State must prove by evidence that satisfies you beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant *acted with criminal negligence*.

Alternatively, the jury should have been instructed

about whether the defendant was aware of the "unreasonable

and substantial risk of death or great bodily harm." This

would have read:

The defendant contends that he was not aware of the unreasonable and substantial risk of death or great bodily harm required for a crime, but rather that what happened was an accident.

If the defendant was not aware of the unreasonable and substantial risk of death or great bodily harm required for a crime, the defendant is not guilty of that crime.

Before you may find the defendant guilty of Homicide by negligent *handling* of a dangerous weapon, the State must prove by evidence that satisfies you beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant *should have been aware of the unreasonable and substantial risk of death or great bodily harm.* As Judge Reilly explained in his dissent, the error in the instruction on Accident is plain. "Two key elements were completely removed from the instruction—unreasonable and substantial—and those missing words changed the application of the law and lessened the State's burden." (App. 126, ¶60).

Trial counsel's deficient performance, his failure to object to the instruction, prejudiced Mr. Langlois because it allowed the jury to be improperly instructed and improperly created a lower burden for the State to meet as the jury considered the defense of Accident, and Mr. Langlois's guilt or innocence. The jury heard from Karen Langlois and Joseph Langlois that Joseph picked up the filet knife after having been choked by his brother, Jacob Langlois. (156: 278-279; App. 179-180). According to Karen Langlois, Joseph picked it up after Jacob shoved and kicked him. Id. at 278; App. 179. Karen Langlois testified that Joseph held "the knife up defensively, up against his right shoulder," with the sharp end pointed out. Id. at 279-280; App. 180-181. Karen Langlois testified that Jacob Langlois kicked Joseph again with a roundhouse kick, and Joseph fell back, and then fell forward as Jacob Langlois came forward, and "that's when the accident happened." *Id.* at 282; App. 183.

Accident was the primary defense argued by trial counsel along with self-defense. Trial counsel's deficient performance by failing to object to the Accident instruction changed the outcome of the trial and prejudiced Mr. Langlois by allowing the jury to be misled about the proper standard, and caused the jury to improperly discard the defense of Accident and convict Mr. Langlois based on a lower standard: that the defendant should have been aware of the *risk* of death or great bodily harm instead of the proper standard: that the defendant should have been aware of the *unreasonable and substantial risk* of death or great bodily harm.

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