### RECEIVED

### STATE OF WISCONSIN 01-31-2018

### IN SUPREME COUR **CLERK OF SUPREME COURT** OF WISCONSIN

Case No. 2016AP1409-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JOSEPH T. LANGLOIS,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING A MOTION FOR POST-CONIVCTION RELIEF, ENTERED IN THE WASHINGTON COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE JAMES K. MUEHLBAUER, PRESIDING

### PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Wisconsin Attorney General

DONALD V. LATORRACA Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1011251

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

The defendant may intentionally use force which is intended or likely to cause death or great bodily harm only if the defendant reasonably

State will refer to the written instructions rather than the transcribed instructions.

believed that the force used was necessary to prevent imminent death or great bodily harm to himself.

(R. 78:3-4, A-App. 148-49.)

After discussing retreat and the elements of firstdegree reckless homicide (R. 78:5, A-App. 150), the court returned to the self-defense standard and explained the State's burden of proof:

You should consider the evidence relating to self-defense in deciding whether the defendant's conduct created an unreasonable risk to another. If the defendant was acting lawfully in self-defense, his conduct did not create an unreasonable risk to another. The burden is on the state to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant did not act lawfully in self-defense. And, you must be satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt from all the evidence in the case that the risk was unreasonable.

(R. 78:6, A-App. 151.)

After it provided the self-defense instruction, the circuit court instructed the jury as to the accident defense in conjunction with the first-degree reckless homicide charge. It explained that if "what happened was an accident," then Langlois could not be criminally reckless and was not guilty. (R. 78:6, A-App. 151.) It also reminded the jury that the State had the burden of proving beyond a reasonable doubt that Langlois had engaged in "criminally reckless conduct." *Id*.

The circuit court then informed the jury that it must find Langlois not guilty of first-degree reckless homicide if it was "not satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant caused the death of Jacob Langlois by criminally reckless conduct and that the circumstances of the conduct showed utter disregard." (R. 78:8, A-App. 153.) If the jury found Langlois not guilty of first-degree reckless homicide, the circuit court directed it to consider whether Langlois was guilty of second-degree reckless homicide. (R. 78:8, A-App. 153.) It instructed the jury on the elements of second-degree reckless homicide and explained how it differed from first-degree reckless homicide, but it did not reinstruct the jury on self-defense or accident. (R. 78:8-10, A-App. 153-55.)

The circuit court told the jurors that if they did not unanimously agree that Langlois was guilty of second-degree reckless homicide, it should consider whether he was guilty of homicide by negligent handling of a dangerous weapon. (R. 78:10, A-App. 155.) The circuit court then told the jury:

Self-defense is an issue in this case that also applies to the charge of Homicide by Negligent Handling of a Dangerous Weapon. In deciding whether the defendant's conduct was criminally negligent conduct, you should also consider whether the defendant acted lawfully in self-defense.

As I previously indicated, the law of selfdefense allows the defendant to threaten or intentionally use force against another only if:

- the defendant believed that there was an actual or imminent unlawful interference with the defendant's person; and
- the defendant believed that the amount of force the defendant used or threatened to use was necessary to prevent or terminate the interference; and
- the defendant's beliefs were reasonable.

The defendant may intentionally use force which is intended or likely to cause death or great bodily harm only if the defendant reasonably believed that the force used was necessary to prevent imminent death or great bodily harm to himself.

(R. 78:11, A-App. 156.) It reinstructed the jury on retreat. (R. 78:12, A-App 157.) It did not reinstruct the jury that the State had the burden of proving beyond a reasonable doubt that Langlois did not act lawfully in self-defense. (R. 78:11-12, A-App. 156-57).

The circuit court then advised the jury of the elements of homicide by negligent handling of a dangerous weapon:

Before you may find the defendant guilty of this offense, the State must prove by evidence which satisfies you beyond a reasonable doubt that the following three elements were present.

. . . .

- 1. The defendant operated or handled a dangerous weapon.
- 2. The defendant operated or handled a dangerous weapon in a manner constituting criminal negligence.
- 3. The defendant's operation or handling of a dangerous weapon in a manner constituting criminal negligence caused the death of Jacob Langlois.

"Criminal negligence" means:

. . . .

- the defendant's operation or handling of a dangerous weapon created a risk of death or great bodily harm; and
- the risk of death or great bodily harm was unreasonable and substantial; and

• the defendant should have been aware that his operation or handling of a dangerous weapon created the unreasonable and substantial risk of death or great bodily harm.

### (R. 78:12-13, A-App. 157-58.)

The circuit court reinstructed the jury on the accident defense.

The defendant contends that he was not aware of the risk of death or great bodily harm required for a crime, but rather that what happened was an accident.

If the defendant was not aware of the risk of death or great bodily harm required for a crime, the defendant is not guilty of that crime.

Before you may find the defendant guilty of Homicide by negligent operation of a dangerous weapon, the State must prove by evidence that satisfies you beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant should have been aware of the risk of death or great bodily harm.

### (R. 78:13-14, A-App. 158-59.)

The circuit court reminded the jury that it could not find Langlois guilty of homicide by negligent operation of a dangerous weapon unless it was "satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt that all three elements of the offense" were present. (R. 78:13-14, A-App. 158-59.) It later instructed the jury that: "The burden of establishing every fact necessary to constitute guilt is upon the State. Before you can return a verdict of guilty, the evidence must satisfy you beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant is guilty." (R. 78:15, A-App. 160.)

Following the jury's guilty verdict on the homicide by negligent handling of a dangerous weapon charge (R. 85), the circuit court withheld sentence and placed Langlois on probation for a period of five years with several conditions of supervision (R. 119).

### B. Postconviction proceedings.

Langlois moved for a judgment notwithstanding verdict. He argued that the State presented insufficient evidence to convict him of the negligent homicide charge. (R. 95:2-4.) He also asserted that the circuit court's instruction on his accident defense violated his due process rights. (R. 95:4-6.) Specifically, he complained that while the State must prove that Langlois was aware that the risk of death or great bodily harm was "unreasonable and substantial," the accident language referenced the risk without reference to the phrase "unreasonable and substantial." (R. 95:5.)

The circuit court denied Langlois's motion. It rejected his sufficiency of the evidence challenge with a detailed discussion of the evidence that supported his conviction. (R. 116:1-3.) The circuit court also rejected Langlois's argument that the accident defense instruction misstated the law or misdirected the jury. It noted that it gave the instruction "exactly" as the defense requested over the State's objections. (R. 116:4.) It denied Langlois's request for a new trial in the interest of justice based on his claim that the instructions were erroneous. (R. 116:4.)

Langlois then moved for a judgment of acquittal based on a challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence. Alternatively, he requested a new trial in the interest of justice, alleging that counsel was ineffective for failing to object to improper jury instructions and that the erroneous jury instructions violated his due process rights. (R. 125:2.)

The circuit court denied Langlois's postconviction motion without an evidentiary hearing. (R. 130:10.) It found that the evidence did not support his request for a self-

defense instruction. (R. 130:2-5.) It also found that it correctly instructed the jury that "[t]he burden is on the state to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant did not act lawfully in self[-]defense."" (R. 130:5.) It also rejected Langlois's challenge to the accident instruction. It concluded that, viewing the accident instruction in conjunction with the substantive elements of the crime, "there was no reasonable likelihood the jury was misled or that the instructions were confusing in an unconstitutional manner." (R. 130:7.) Therefore, the circuit court determined that the real controversy had been tried and declined Langlois's request to exercise its discretionary authority to reverse in the interest of justice. (R. 130:7-8.) The circuit court also rejected Langlois's claim that the evidence was insufficient to support his conviction. (R. 130:7.) Finally, because Langlois's claim of ineffective assistance was conclusory, the circuit court determined that the record conclusively demonstrated that Langlois was not entitled to relief and denied his claims without an evidentiary hearing. (R. 130:9-10.)

### C. The court of appeals decision.

On appeal, Langlois renewed the same claims related to instructional error that he raised in his postconviction motions. The court of appeals rejected each claim. The court of appeals determined that trial counsel's failure to object to the jury instructions did not constitute deficient performance because, viewed in their entirety, they were not erroneous. *State v. Langlois*, 2017 WI App 44, ¶¶ 33-36, 377 Wis. 2d 302, 901 N.W.2d 768. Because they were not erroneous, the court of appeals determined that the real controversy was tried and Langlois was not denied due process. *Id.* ¶ 37. Finally, the court of appeals determined that the State presented legally sufficient evidence to support Langlois's conviction. *Id.* ¶¶ 45-50.

### ARGUMENT

I. Trial counsel was not ineffective and the circuit court properly denied Langlois's ineffective assistance claim without a hearing.

### A. Legal principles.

### 1. Ineffective assistance of counsel.

A criminal defendant is guaranteed effective assistance of counsel under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 7 of the Wisconsin Constitution. *State v. Lemberger*, 2017 WI 39, ¶ 16, 374 Wis. 2d 617, 893 N.W.2d 232.

A claim of ineffective assistance of counsel presents a mixed question of law and fact. "The factual circumstances of the case and trial counsel's conduct and strategy are findings of fact." State v. Breitzman, 2017 WI 100, ¶ 37, \_\_\_Wis. 2d\_\_\_, 904 N.W.2d 93. This Court will not overturn the circuit court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous. Id. Whether counsel's performance was ineffective presents a legal question that this Court reviews independently, benefiting from the lower courts' analysis. State v. Jenkins, 2014 WI 59, ¶ 38, 355 Wis. 2d 180, 848 N.W.2d 786.

A defendant alleging ineffective assistance of counsel has the burden of proving both that counsel's performance was deficient and that counsel's deficient performance prejudiced him. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984).

To prove deficient performance, the defendant must show that his counsel's representation "fell below an objective standard of reasonableness" considering all the circumstances. *Id.* at 688. The defendant must demonstrate that specific acts or omissions of counsel fell "outside the wide range of professionally competent assistance." *Id.* at 690.

To demonstrate prejudice, the defendant must affirmatively prove that the alleged deficient performance prejudiced him. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 693. The defendant must show something more than that counsel's errors had a conceivable effect on the proceeding's outcome. *Id.* Rather, the defendant must demonstrate "that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." *Id.* at 694.

A circuit court may deny a defendant's postconviction motion without a hearing if the motion fails to allege sufficient facts to raise a factual question, presents only conclusory allegations, or if the record conclusively demonstrates that a defendant is not entitled to relief. *State* v. Allen, 2004 WI 106, ¶¶ 2, 12, 274 Wis. 2d 568, 682 N.W.2d 433. If a reviewing court determines that the circuit court erroneously denied a defendant a Machner hearing, the proper remedy is to remand the case for a hearing. See State v. Curtis, 218 Wis. 2d 550, 554-55, n.3, 582 N.W.2d 409 (Ct. App. 1998).

# 2. Post-conviction review of unobjected to jury instructions.

A party has a duty to object to jury instructions, specifying "with particularity how the instruction is insufficient or does not state the law or to what particular language there is an objection." Wis. Stat § 972.10(5). A party's failure to timely object to the circuit court's proposed instructions "constitutes a waiver of any error in the proposed instructions or verdict." Wis. Stat. § 805.13(3). A reviewing court generally does not have the power to review challenges to jury instructions on appeal when a party did not properly preserve them in the circuit court. *State v. Cockrell*, 2007 WI App 217, ¶ 36, 306 Wis. 2d 52, 741 N.W.2d 267. "[T]he normal procedure in criminal cases is to address waiver within the rubric of the ineffective assistance of counsel." *State v. Erickson*, 227 Wis. 2d 758, 766, 596 N.W.2d 749 (1999).

When an appellate court reviews an ineffective assistance of counsel claim related to instructional error, it first decides whether the circuit court correctly instructed the jury. State v. Ziebart, 2003 WI App 258, ¶ 15, 268 Wis. 2d 468, 673 N.W.2d 369. A circuit court has broad discretion when it instructs a jury. An appellate court independently reviews whether the instructions that the circuit court gave accurately stated the law. When a jury instruction misstates the law, then the circuit court has erroneously exercised its discretion. State v. McKellips, 2016 WI 51, ¶ 30, 369 Wis. 2d 437, 881 N.W.2d 258. But an appellate court does not review an instruction in isolation. Instead, it analyzes "the instructions as a whole to determine their accuracy, viewing them in the context of the overall charge." Id. An instruction is not erroneous unless, "the instructions, when viewed as a whole, misstated the law or misdirected the jury." Ziebart, 268 Wis. 2d 468, ¶ 16 (citation omitted). If the instruction did not misstate the law, then the ineffective assistance of counsel claim fails. Id. ¶ 17.

Even if counsel performed deficiently for failing to object to erroneous instructions, an ineffective assistance claim fails if the instructions did not prejudice the defendant. The effect of erroneous instructions may be "ameliorated by the jury having heard multiple correct statements of the law" and by the totality of circumstances in the record. State v. Beamon, 2013 WI 47, ¶¶ 38-39, 347 Wis. 2d 559, 830 N.W.2d 681.<sup>5</sup>

# B. Counsel was not ineffective for failing to object to the self-defense instruction.

The circuit court denied Langlois's ineffective assistance of counsel claim without a hearing because the instructions correctly stated the law. (R. 130:9-10.) The court of appeals agreed. It determined counsel was not deficient because the record conclusively demonstrated "that the court's instructions to the jury, when viewed in their entirety and not in isolation, were not erroneous." *Langlois*, 377 Wis. 2d 302, ¶ 36. The record supports the lower courts' decisions.

1. Trial counsel's performance was not deficient because the instructions as a whole placed the burden on the State to disprove that Langlois acted in selfdefense.

In its closing instructions, the circuit court identified the crimes the jury would have to consider: first-degree reckless homicide, second-degree reckless homicide, and homicide by negligent handling of a dangerous weapon. (R. 78:2, A-App. 147.) In conjunction with its instruction of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> While *Beamon* addresses application of the harmless error analysis to erroneous jury instructions, *Beamon*, 347 Wis. 2d 559, ¶ 24, its analysis for assessing harmless error applies to assessments of prejudice under *Strickland*. The harmless error analysis is "essentially consistent" with the *Strickland* test for actual prejudice. *State v. Harvey*, 2002 WI 93, ¶ 41, 254 Wis. 2d 442, 647 N.W.2d 189. The only distinction is that the defendant bears the burden of proving prejudice in an ineffective assistance of counsel claim. *Id*.

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